#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-29-2016

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2015AP1799-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ANTHONY PICO,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A
POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, ENTERED
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE
HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. At a *Machner* hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, Anthony Pico presented a criminal defense lawyer to opine on Pico's trial counsel's actions and inactions. Was it proper for the circuit court to admit and rely on this "*Strickland* expert" testimony?

- 2. Under *Strickland*, courts presume that counsel's performance is constitutionally effective and defer to counsel's reasonable strategic decisions. Here, Pico's trial counsel explained his decision-making on all of the challenged grounds and how those reasoned decisions were consistent with the strategy that he and Pico had agreed upon.
  - A. Did the circuit court misapply *Strickland* when it disregarded counsel's reasoned decisions and concluded that counsel was constitutionally deficient? and;
  - B. Does the record support the circuit court's conclusion that the alleged errors were prejudicial, either individually or cumulatively?

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication because the issues in this case can be resolved by applying established legal principles to the facts.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. General overview.

A jury convicted Anthony Pico of first-degree sexual assault of a child, sexual contact with a person under the age of thirteen (43). The charge was based on complaints by D.T., an eight-year-old girl, that Pico had twice slid his hand inside her pants and touched her vagina while Pico was a parent-volunteer in D.T.'s second-grade class (1). The court sentenced Pico to six years' confinement and ten years' extended supervision (43).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Honorable William J. Domina presided over Pico's trial.

Pico filed a postconviction motion seeking a new trial based on eleven allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel (57). After a two-day *Machner* hearing, the circuit court, the Honorable Michael O. Bohren, presiding, granted the motion, vacated the judgment of conviction, and ordered a new trial (98). The State now appeals.

#### 2. Pretrial and trial.

Pico retained Attorney Jonathan LaVoy, who filed several pretrial motions on Pico's behalf. The State discusses relevant facts related to those motions in its argument. At trial, the State relied on recorded evidence and testimony from several witnesses, as described below.

a. Sarah Flayter introduced a video interview in which D.T. claimed that Pico had twice put his hand down her pants and touched where she "go[es] to the potty."

Sarah Flayter, who conducted interviews with children for CARE Waukesha, testified to her training and experience interviewing children since 1995 (90:210-15).

Flayter explained that she followed the Step-Wise protocol when interviewing children alleging sexual abuse (90:218-19). She explained that that procedure involved her (1) establishing rapport with the child on a neutral subject; (2) ensuring that the child understands the need for telling the truth; (3) asking open-ended questions to allow the child to provide a narrative of what happened; and (4) closing the interview by prompting the child for any questions and returning to a neutral subject (90:218-22). Flayter acknowledged that she interviewed D.T. on April 25, 2012, and followed the Step-Wise procedure when she did so (90:223).

At trial, the prosecutor played a video of Flayter's interview with D.T. (90:224; 31:Exh. 3; 83:Exh. 2).<sup>2</sup> In the interview, D.T. explained that Pico was the father of her friend and classmate, A. (83:Exh. 2 at 09:59:35-40), and that he was helping out with their second-grade reading class (*id.* at 10:04:35-57, 10:13:13-18).

D.T. said that on the previous Friday (*id.* at 10:14:05-08), she was reading to Pico, who was sitting with her to her left, when he started rubbing her left leg (*id.* at 09:59:58-10:00:40). She said that Pico worked his hand higher up her leg and twice slid his hand down the waistband of her pants (*id.* at 09:59:58-10:00:40, 10:05:30-40), under her underwear (*id.* at 10:07:45-54), and touched or rubbed where she "go[es] to the potty" with his fingers (*id.* at 10:07:55-58, 10:08:13-25). D.T. said that Pico told her "sorry" after the first time he put his hand down her pants, but that he did not appear to mean it because he was smiling (*id.* at 10:00:22-30, 10:05:48-57, 10:08:53-09:05). D.T. said that Pico stopped touching her when her teacher ended the reading activity (*id.* at 10:01:08-28), at which point Pico left D.T. to talk to A. (*id.* at 10:11:53-12:10).

D.T. did not think anyone saw Pico touch her (*id.* at 10:11:06-10). D.T. did not tell anyone about what had happened until that same night, when she had trouble sleeping because she "was thinking about it" and told her mother that Pico had stuck his hand down her pants (*id.* at 10:14:17-40). When Flayter asked D.T. to circle on a diagram of a girl's body where Pico

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Counsel for the State was unable to play the DVD of the interview played at trial (31:Exh. 3), and instead references a duplicate DVD entered in the *Machner* hearing (83:Exh. 2). That DVD features a video player and two files, named Camera 17 and Camera 18, showing the same interview from different camera perspectives. Counsel found it easier to hear D.T.'s statements when watching the Camera 18 file. When citing to the DVD, the State references the running time that appears in the lower left corner of the video player.

had touched her, D.T. circled an area including the hips and the crotch and an area on the left leg (*id.* at 10:17:00-42; 31:Exh. 4).

b. When LaVoy cross-examined D.T., she agreed that Pico never touched her vagina and made other inconsistent remarks.

D.T. also testified at trial. When LaVoy cross-examined D.T., she said numerous things that were markedly inconsistent with the CARE interview and her accusations:

- D.T. said that the first time Pico's hand went down her pants, it only went down a short way for "like a second" (90:253);
- D.T. said that after the first time Pico removed his hand, she told him that he could keep rubbing her leg (90:254-55);
- D.T. said that the second time Pico's hand went in her pants "a little bit deeper," but neither time did he touch the "area where you go potty," only an area by her waistband (90:256);
- D.T. said that Pico never rubbed her inside her pants (90:257); and
- D.T. initially said that Pico only said "sorry" to her, but later said that Pico told D.T. "don't tell" when he left her (90:258, 263-64).

During redirect, D.T. stated that she had told Flayter the truth during the interview and that she told Flayter that Pico touched her where she goes potty two times under her underwear (90:271-73). D.T. stated that she did not know why she told LaVoy otherwise during his questioning (90:271).

### c. Detective Andrew Rich introduced an audio recording of his interview with Pico.

Detective Andrew Rich of the Oconomowoc Police Department went to Pico's house on April 25, 2012, where he interviewed Pico (91:84-85). The State played the audio recording of the interview at trial (91:87; 31:Exh. 12; 83:Exh. H<sup>3</sup>).

During the interview, Rich told Pico that "one of the students you were working with went home and told her mom that you have inappropriately touched her" (83:Exh. H at 3). Rich told Pico early on that "there's video up there in the classroom and all of that kind of stuff"; that the crime lab found male DNA on the alleged victim's clothing where she said she had been touched; and that O., another student who had been sitting nearby, told Rich that she had seen Pico touching the alleged victim and heard him say, "Sorry" (*id.* at 3-5).

Pico knew that the complainant was D.T. (*id.* at 5). He told Rich that D.T. told him to tickle her leg, so he tickled her knee and thigh, and that "[h]er shirt went up and my hand went along the edge" but that his hand never went "in" (*id.* at 4, 6). He later told Rich that he tickled D.T.'s leg without her asking but that she told him that it "felt fine" so he continued to do it (*id.* at 10). He admitted that his hand went up her leg "probably too high" and may have gone underneath D.T.'s pants "a little bit" when he started moving his hand back down and caught her waistband (*id.* at 11). Generally, Pico claimed he could not recall much of what happened during the encounter and at times said certain details of D.T.'s story were "possible," such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For the postconviction proceedings, Pico transcribed the audio recording (83:Exh. H). However, Exh. H reflects the entire interview whereas the jury heard a redacted version. The two redacted portions include (1) Exh. H at page 19, line 19 (beginning "Yeah, I know. . . .") through page 20, line 8 (resuming at "So that's what is just bizarre . . . ") and (2) Exh. H at page 21, line 12 (beginning "Yeah. But nothing like this has ever happened before?") through the interview's end.

as his saying "sorry" (see id. at 7, 12, 13, 18). But Pico consistently denied putting his hand down D.T.'s pants on purpose (id. at 17) or touching D.T.'s vagina (id. at 11). Pico acknowledged that it was inappropriate for him to be touching D.T. at all (id. at 16-17).

In his testimony, Rich said that when interviewing a suspect, particularly one accused of sexual assault, he might suggest that he had more evidence than he did to encourage the suspect to be honest (91:81-82). Rich acknowledged that his statements to Pico about what O. had seen, about the DNA evidence, and about there being video footage from the school were all false (91:90-91, 98-100).

#### d. Other testimony.

The State also presented testimony from the following witnesses:

- S.T., D.T.'s mother, testified that shortly after going to bed on April 20, D.T. seemed upset, told S.T. that Pico had put his hands down her pants, and said "yes" and cried when S.T. asked D.T. if Pico's hands went inside her underwear (90:188-90). S.T. told D.T.'s teacher, Nancy Buss, about D.T.'s claims the following Monday (90:191-92). Buss directed S.T. to Jodie Jens, the school guidance counselor (90:192).
- Buss saw Pico reading with D.T. on April 20 but did not see Pico touch her at all (91:11, 28). Buss confirmed that S.T. reported D.T.'s claims to her on the following Monday (91:26).
- Jens confirmed that S.T. talked to her on April 23 (91:60). Jens later talked to D.T., who told Jens that Pico had rubbed her leg, moved his hand up higher, put his hand down her pants, said he was sorry and

removed it, and then repeated those actions a second time (91:71-72).

#### e. Pico's defense.

Pico rested, electing to not testify or present witnesses, after the close of the State's case (91:133). In closing, Pico's defense was that he only touched D.T.'s leg and, inadvertently, near her waistband. He argued that while that touching was inappropriate, it was not a crime, and the State failed to prove that Pico touched D.T.'s vagina (91:149). During closing argument, LaVoy emphasized D.T.'s unreliability and suggestibility (91:151, 155-57, 160-63). He noted that S.T. first suggested to D.T. that Pico had touched inside her underwear (91:150-51), and emphasized the major inconsistencies between her testimony and the CARE interview, including her testimony that Pico never touched her vagina (91:160-63).

LaVoy argued that Pico was a well-respected member of the community with no history or reason to commit this act (91:157, 165). LaVoy emphasized the unlikelihood that Pico would have touched D.T. sexually in a busy classroom with an experienced teacher present (91:165). Finally, LaVoy argued that during the Rich interview, police confronted Pico with multiple lies, but Pico remained adamant that he never touched D.T.'s vagina. LaVoy asserted that Pico's equivocal remarks merely reflected his understanding that it was inappropriate for him to touch D.T.'s leg and his regret that he made D.T. uncomfortable as a result (91:168-72).

#### 3. Postconviction motion and Machner hearing.

By postconviction motion, Pico alleged eleven claims of ineffective assistance of counsel (57).

The first three claims stemmed from Pico's allegations that LaVoy failed to obtain Pico's medical records from a 1992 motorcycle accident in which Pico sustained a head injury (57:1-3). Pico claimed that that failure rendered LaVoy ineffective in three respects: *first*, LaVoy could have asserted an NGI defense; *second*, LaVoy could have presented an expert to opine how Pico's injury could have explained his behavior with D.T.; and *third*, LaVoy could have presented expert testimony explaining that the brain injury left Pico especially susceptible to Rich's questions in the police interview (*id.*).

Fourth, Pico alleged that LaVoy should have presented an expert to challenge Flayter's forensic interview with D.T. and Flayter's testimony (57:3-4).

Fifth and sixth, Pico alleged that LaVoy should have objected to Detective Rich's remarks in two respects: (a) under *Daubert* to Rich's testimony where he allegedly said that he thought Pico was lying during the interview, and (b) under *Haseltine* to Rich's remark during testimony that Flayter was "among the best in the state'" (57:4).

Eighth,<sup>4</sup> he alleged that LaVoy should have investigated and presented evidence that D.T. had recently been taught about "good touches and bad touches" (57:5). And ninth, Pico alleged that LaVoy should have called witnesses to testify that Pico calmed his autistic daughter with leg massage to explain his motivation in touching D.T. in that way (57:5).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the seventh claim in his motion, Pico alleged that LaVoy should have sought a psychological evaluation of D.T. (57:4-5). But in his brief to the circuit court (70), Pico abandoned that issue, and the circuit court did not address it in its decision (98). The State does not address it further.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pico's tenth and eleventh claims alleged court error and ineffective assistance by LaVoy at sentencing (70:25-29). The circuit court did not find merit to those claims (98:27-28, 32-33; A-Ap. 127-28, 132-33). Because the circuit court denied those claims and because those claims do not bear on the question whether Pico is entitled to a new trial, the State does not address them in this appeal.

The circuit court held a two-day *Machner* hearing. In addition to LaVoy, Flayter, and Detective Rich, the following witnesses testified:

- 1. Waring Fincke: Over the State's pre-hearing objection, Pico presented this defense lawyer to offer an opinion as to whether LaVoy conducted the trial in an effective manner (96:99).
- 2. Dr. John Yuille: Pico presented this psychologist who developed the Step-Wise protocol used by Flayter in the CARE interview and who had an understanding of the deception based "Reid" questioning technique used by Rich in his interview of Pico (96:126, 128-29).
- 3. Michelle Pico: Pico's wife testified to Pico's practice of massaging their autistic daughter's leg to calm her and to Pico's impulsive personality (96:197-203).
- 4. Dr. Horatio Capote: Pico presented testimony from Capote, who was a director of neuropsychiatry in Buffalo, New York (97:6). Capote reviewed Pico's medical records from the 1992 accident and opined that the lasting effects of Pico's injury could have supported an NGI defense, affected Pico's responses in the police interview, and explained his behavior with D.T. (97:13-15).
- 5. Dr. Craig Schoenecker: The State presented testimony from Dr. Schoenecker, a forensic psychiatrist who reviewed the same materials that Capote did and who opined that there was nothing in them to support an NGI defense or a medical explanation for his behavior (97:63-65, 92-93).

The parties submitted briefs (69; 70), and the circuit court issued an oral decision granting Pico's motion for a new trial and vacating the judgment of conviction (98).

The State will address any additional facts in its argument.

#### LEGAL PRINCIPLES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690. The court "strongly presume[s]" that counsel has rendered adequate assistance. *Id.* Professionally competent assistance encompasses a "wide range" of behaviors and "[a] fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Id.* at 689. A lawyer's performance is not deficient unless he or she "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* at 687.

"Surmounting *Strickland*'s high bar is never an easy task." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011) (quoted source omitted). With respect to the deficient performance prong of the *Strickland* test,

[e]ven under *de novo* review, the standard for judging counsel's representation is a most deferential one. Unlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with the client, with opposing counsel, and with the judge. It is "all too tempting" to "second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence." The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under "prevailing professional norms,"

not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom.

#### *Id.* (citations omitted).

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must prove that the alleged defect in counsel's performance actually had an adverse effect on the defense. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. More than merely showing that the error had some conceivable effect on the outcome, the defendant must show that there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694.

Like deficiency, establishing prejudice under *Strickland* is difficult:

Strickland asks whether it is "reasonably likely" the result would have been different. This does not require a showing that counsel's actions "more likely than not altered the outcome," but the difference between Strickland's prejudice standard and a more-probable-than-not standard is slight and matters "only in the rarest case." The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.

#### Richter, 562 U.S. at 111-12 (citations omitted; emphasis added).

Whether counsel rendered ineffective assistance is a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Nielsen*, 2001 WI App 192, ¶14, 247 Wis. 2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325. This court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Whether the defendant's proof satisfies the deficient performance or the prejudice prong is a question of law that this court reviews without deference to the trial court's conclusions. *Id.* 

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. The circuit court improperly admitted and relied upon Strickland expert testimony.

As a threshold matter, the circuit court should not have admitted Fincke's "Strickland expert" testimony at the Machner hearing. Even if that testimony was within the court's discretion to admit, it was error for the court to rely on it in its decision.

# A. Pico offered Fincke's testimony to demonstrate what a reasonable attorney "versed in the criminal law would and should do under the circumstances."

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