#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-21-2017**

## IN SUPREME COURT COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP1799-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ANTHONY R. PICO,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A POSTCONVICTION ORDER GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

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

Pico's arguments to the contrary are not persuasive. He asserts that the strategy did not make sense because the jury needed some explanation why Pico was touching D.T.'s leg. (Pico's Br. 61–62.) But Pico's rubbing his daughter's leg would not have explained why he rubbed D.T.'s leg. Pico rubbed his daughter's leg to soothe her when she had anxiety from her sensory-processing disorder. D.T. was not Pico's daughter, did not have a sensory-processing disorder, and was not in need of soothing during the class. Indeed, Pico never claimed that he was touching D.T.'s leg to soothe her. When Pico first talked to Rich, he said that he was tickling D.T after she asked him to. In any event, he consistently acknowledged that touching D.T. was inappropriate and it made her uncomfortable. Moreover, his massaging his daughter's leg

would not have explained why Pico's hand was near D.T.'s waistband, a point that LaVoy reasonably did not want the jury to focus on.

For the same reasons, Pico cannot demonstrate prejudice. As noted above, the leg massage evidence was dissimilar to the circumstances of Pico's touching D.T.'s leg; it was not substantially likely to have affected the verdict because it would not have explained why Pico touched D.T.'s leg and risked focusing the jury on potentially harmful facts.

2. LaVoy was not ineffective for failing to obtain evidence that D.T. had recently learned about good and bad touches.

A defendant alleging ineffective assistance for failure to investigate "must allege with specificity what the investigation would have revealed and how it would have altered the outcome of the case." *State v. Leighton*, 2000 WI App 156, ¶¶ 38–39, 237 Wis. 2d 709, 616 N.W.2d 126. Here, because Pico never obtained or presented at the *Machner* hearing the materials he faults LaVoy for not obtaining, he cannot prove deficient performance or prejudice.

In any event, Pico cannot prove deficient performance on this record. Again, counsel's "particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. Here, LaVoy "thought about [the recently taught good and bad touch unit] a lot" and talked with Pico, his family, and other lawyers at his firm about it. (R. 96:34–35.) Ultimately, "[w]e all agreed that [it] was not a good avenue to go down." (R. 96:35.) If the jury knew that D.T. had just learned the difference between a good and bad touch, it could easily conclude that she understood the differences, which would

have been "a very big negative." (*Id.*) That was a reasonable strategic decision that Pico endorsed and is entitled to deference. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690 (strategic decisions by counsel are invulnerable to second-guessing); *Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 77 (a defendant cannot challenge an agreed-upon strategy that was reasonable at the outset).

Nor can Pico prove prejudice. He argues that if LaVoy investigated the materials, he could have presented evidence from Yuille that both true and false disclosures increase after such lessons. (Pico's Br. 60.) He asserts that D.T. "may have made [a] false disclosure due to the unit." (Id.) But the evidence at the *Machner* hearing was that *all* disclosures increased after such units; there was no evidence that false disclosures disproportionately increased or exceeded the true ones. Moreover, the jury was aware that D.T.'s disclosure was possibly false. Indeed, determining whether her disclosure was true was the point of the police investigation, the CARE interview, and the trial. Had the jury learned that all disclosures increase after good and bad touch lessons, nothing would have changed; the jury could have easily believed D.T. fully understood "bad touch" due to her recent lesson on it. Pico was not prejudiced.

Finally, nothing in the circuit court's decision supports the conclusion that LaVoy was ineffective. The circuit court seemed to fault LaVoy for not obtaining the good and bad touch materials (R. 98:21), but it did not explain what LaVoy would have discovered or address LaVoy's strategic decision to avoid the issue. LaVoy was not ineffective on this basis.

#### G. Pico failed to establish cumulative prejudice.

This Court may consider whether the aggregate effects of counsel's deficiencies establish cumulative prejudice. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 60. That said, "a convicted defendant may not simply present a laundry list of mistakes by counsel and expect to be awarded a new trial." *Id.* ¶ 61. "[I]n most cases errors, even unreasonable errors, will not have a cumulative impact sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial, especially if the evidence against the defendant remains compelling." *Id.* In addition, only actual deficient errors are "included in the calculus for prejudice." *Id.* 

Here, because LaVoy was not deficient in any of the above alleged respects, there are no errors to include in the calculus of cumulative prejudice. *Id.* The circuit court's conclusion to the contrary (R. 98:28) is wrong. Even assuming LaVoy was deficient in any of the above respects, Pico cannot satisfy his burden of establishing cumulative prejudice.

The State's case was compelling and Pico received a fair trial. The issue in this case boiled down to a credibility contest between D.T. and Pico. *Cf. Domke*, 337 Wis. 2d 268, ¶ 57 (stating that in sex assault case hinging on credibility of the victim, the State had a "very strong case"). The State presented D.T.'s detailed explanation of Pico's assaults through the CARE Center interview, along with corroborating testimony from her mother and Jens that D.T. was consistent in her allegations. D.T.'s mother also testified to the change she saw in D.T. before she disclosed and D.T.'s distress when she disclosed what happened. Further, D.T. testified that what she said in the CARE interview was true.

Although D.T. offered several inconsistent details including denying that the crime occurred—in response to LaVoy's well-crafted questions, her allegations believable because she had no reason to fabricate them; in fact, she had all the reason in the world to pretend the assaults never happened. She explained that Pico's daughter was her close friend and that she still "kinda liked" Pico. She acknowledged that she testified inconsistently in response to LaVoy's questions, but the State aptly emphasized that D.T. was a third grader who never testified in court before, let testified about that left acts her personally "embarrassed" to discuss, and that impacted many people she liked and cared about. Despite all of that, though, in the end she reiterated that what she had said to her mother, to Jens, and to Flayter in the CARE interview was correct and that Pico had twice touched her where she "went potty."

Thus, the State provided a compelling explanation for D.T.'s inconsistencies based on her youth, her inexperience, the intimidating nature of the proceedings, and the fact that she was accusing her friend's father of a serious crime.

Of Pico's claims asserting that LaVoy should have done more to challenge D.T.'s credibility—i.e., the Flayter interview, suggestibility, good/bad touch, Rich testimony—none would have provided an explanation or motive for D.T. to have made false allegations. Moreover, each of those theories would have been at best a double-edged sword requiring the jury to focus on evidence negative to Pico. Even combined, they were not likely to favor Pico's defense, let alone make a different result substantially probable.

And as for any deficiency regarding Pico's 20-year-old brain injury, Pico was not prejudiced because that was an inconsistent and improbable defense that LaVoy had no logical reason to advance. See, e.g., Kimbrough, 246 Wis. 2d

648, ¶ 32 (decision to advance one defense over multiple inconsistent defenses was reasonable); State v. McDowell, 2004 WI 70, ¶ 64, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500 (noting that McDowell's implausible proposed defense supported conclusion that he was not prejudiced). As noted, an alternative defense that Pico had a 20-year-old brain injury that seemingly did not affect him in any meaningful way except for a five-to-ten minute period with D.T. risked confusing the jury and undercutting Pico's primary defense that the assaults did not occur.

Pico suggests that there was cumulative prejudice here (Pico's Br. 21, 61), but he does not develop an argument on this point. He has failed to demonstrate prejudice on any of these claims, individually or cumulatively. This Court must affirm the court of appeals.

### II. Strickland expert testimony is improper at Machner hearings.

This Court should hold that the circuit court's admission of Attorney Fincke's testimony at the *Machner* hearing was improper as a matter of law, because the court is the only expert on matters of domestic law and such testimony cannot assist a court assessing *Strickland* matters.

To start, *Strickland* expert testimony is not necessary to assist the court at *Machner* hearings. In Wisconsin, "expert testimony is not necessary to assist the trier of fact concerning matters of common knowledge or those within the realm of ordinary experience." *Racine County v. Oracular Milwaukee, Inc.*, 2010 WI 25, ¶ 28, 323 Wis. 2d 682, 781 N.W.2d 88. Indeed, "if the court or jury is able to draw its own conclusions without the aid of expert testimony, 'the admission of such testimony is not only unnecessary but improper." *Id.* (quoting

Cramer v. Theda Clark Mem'l Hosp., 45 Wis. 2d 147, 151, 172 N.W.2d 427 (1969)).

In a *Machner* hearing, the trier is the court, which is "the only 'expert' on domestic law." *See Wisconsin Patients Compensation Fund v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wisconsin, Inc.*, 2000 WI App 248, ¶ 8 n.3, 239 Wis. 2d 360, 620 N.W.2d 457. Accordingly, at a *Machner* hearing, the court is equipped draw its own conclusions on the legal question whether trial counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient. Hence, the admission of *Strickland* expert testimony "is not only unnecessary but improper." *See Oracular Milwaukee*, 323 Wis. 2d 682, ¶ 28.

The court of appeals applied that reasoning when it rejected the court's admission of a *Strickland* expert in *State v. McDowell*, 2003 WI App 168, ¶ 62 n.20, 266 Wis. 2d 599, 669 N.W.2d 204. There, the court of appeals observed that a *Strickland* expert provided his opinion at the *Machner* hearing on whether counsel performed reasonably; the court deemed that testimony improper: "we reiterate that no witness may testify as an expert on issues of domestic law." *Id.* (citing *Wisconsin Patients Compensation Fund*, 239 Wis. 2d 360, ¶ 8 n.3).

Federal courts likewise deem *Strickland* expert testimony improper because the reasonableness of counsel's performance is a legal question for the court to decide. *See, e.g., Provenzano v. Singletary*, 148 F.3d 1327, 1332 (11th Cir. 1998). Because of that, *Strickland* expert testimony opining on the reasonableness of counsel's actions is irrelevant: "it would not matter if a petitioner could assemble affidavits from a dozen attorneys swearing that the strategy used at his trial was unreasonable. The question is not one to be decided by plebiscite, by affidavits, by deposition, or by live testimony." *Id.*; *see also Earp v. Cullen*, 623 F.3d 1065, 1075

(9th Cir. 2010) ("Expert testimony is not necessary to determine claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.").

Moreover, *Strickland* expert testimony cannot satisfy admissibility standards. Expert testimony is admissible provided that the witness is "qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education," and the testimony is helpful, i.e., if it "will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." Wis. Stat. § 907.02.

Strickland expert testimony offered at a Machner hearing can never satisfy the helpfulness requirement under section 907.02 for at least two reasons. First, a Strickland expert cannot assist the trier of fact—i.e., the court—to understand the evidence at a *Machner* hearing. The objective standard of care is provided in Strickland and ineffective assistance case law. Courts also look to the ABA standards for guidance. See State v. Ortiz-Mondragon, 2015 WI 73, ¶ 85, 364 Wis. 2d 1, 866 N.W.2d 717. But an individual attorney's opinion of what challenged counsel should have done cannot assist a court in determining whether challenged counsel performed within the wide range of competent assistance. That is so because "[t]here are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Second, a Strickland expert cannot assist the court in determining facts in issue, because the facts in issue at a *Machner* hearing are the facts available to counsel at the time of the challenged representation. A *Strickland* expert, by definition, has no firsthand knowledge of those facts and what counsel did at the time. Accordingly, for an expert to speculate on what should have happened runs counter to *Strickland*'s mandate for courts to make "every effort . . . to eliminate the

distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

Applying the facts here, the circuit court's admission of Attorney Fincke's testimony was contrary to the legal standards in McDowell and Wis. Stat. § 907.02. Here, when Pico sought to admit testimony by Fincke regarding the objective standard of care for criminal defense attorneys (R. 95:4–5), the State objected (R. 61), and Pico responded that Fincke's "testimony will only be on factual matters to show what a reasonable attorney versed in the criminal law would and should do under the circumstances at issue in this case." (R. 62.) The court circled that sentence in Pico's letter and wrote, "So ordered." (Id.) That decision was wrong because it was not based on an examination of the relevant facts, application of the legal standard, or based on a "demonstrated rational process." Shomberg, 288 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 11.

Pico cites no authority compelling a different conclusion. (Pico's Br. 72–73.) *State v. LaCount* did not involve a *Strickland* expert and is not analogous. 2008 WI 59, ¶ 21, 310 Wis. 2d 85, 750 N.W.2d 780. The malpractice cases <sup>13</sup> are inapt because a jury lacks expertise on an attorney's standard of care. Of the *Strickland* cases Pico invokes, the courts mentioned that an expert on ineffectiveness testified without

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Pico's Br. 72–73 (citing Helmbrecht v. St. Paul Insurance Co.,
122 Wis. 2d 94, 112, 362 N.W.2d 118 (1985), Pierce v. Colwell, 209
Wis. 2d 355, 362, 563 N.W.2d 166 (Ct. App. 1997), Weiss v. United
Fire & Cas. Co., 197 Wis. 2d 365, 382, 541 N.W.2d 753 (1995),
Talmage v. Harris, 354 F. Supp. 2d 860, 866 (W.D. Wis. 2005)).

addressing the content or necessity of the testimony, <sup>14</sup> or the soundness of its admission. <sup>15</sup> But Pico has not identified, nor can the State find, any cases in which courts endorse or justify admitting *Strickland* expert testimony in hearings on ineffective assistance claims.

Finally, Pico's claim that Fincke's testimony did not make any difference in the court's decision (Pico's Br. 74–75) is at odds with the rest of his brief, in which he uses Fincke's testimony to support his ineffective assistance arguments. (Pico's Br. 35–36, 45, 58, 62). He also ignores the portions of the court's decision where it relied on Fincke's testimony, including the failure to obtain the records (R. 98:13) and the evidentiary grounds (R. 98:19–20). Since the circuit court largely based its decision to grant Pico's motion on LaVoy's not seeking the medical files (R. 98:28–29), one cannot fairly say that Fincke's testimony had no effect.

In sum, this Court should clarify that *Strickland* expert testimony is unnecessary and inadmissible as a matter of law in *Machner* hearings.

# III. Because the circuit court denied Pico's sentencing claim, and Pico did not crossappeal, the claim is not properly before this Court.

A person initiates an appeal by filing a notice of appeal identifying the judgment or order from which the person is appealing. Wis. Stat. § 809.10(1)(b). An appeal from a final judgment or final order is not limited to matters in that judgment or order; rather, it "brings before the court all prior nonfinal judgments, orders and rulings *adverse to the* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Banks v. Reynolds, 54 F.3d 1508, 1513 (10th Cir. 1995), Weddell v. Weber, 604 N.W.2d 274, 282 (S.D. 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See, e.g., Earp, 623 F.3d 1065, 1073 (9th Cir. 2010).

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